

University of Alabama at Birmingham UAB Digital Commons

## All ETDs from UAB

**UAB Theses & Dissertations** 

2023

# "Wimpy White Boy Syndrome': Does it Exist in the NICU?"

Brittany Nicole Stewart University of Alabama at Birmingham

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.library.uab.edu/etd-collection

Part of the Arts and Humanities Commons

### **Recommended Citation**

Stewart, Brittany Nicole, ""Wimpy White Boy Syndrome': Does it Exist in the NICU?" (2023). All ETDs from UAB. 3532.

https://digitalcommons.library.uab.edu/etd-collection/3532

This content has been accepted for inclusion by an authorized administrator of the UAB Digital Commons, and is provided as a free open access item. All inquiries regarding this item or the UAB Digital Commons should be directed to the UAB Libraries Office of Scholarly Communication.

# "WIMPY WHITE BOY SYNDROME': DOES IT EXIST IN THE NICU?"

by

# BRITTANY NICOLE STEWART

# ELIZABETH BAKER, COMMITTEE CHAIR NAMASIVAYAM AMBALAVANAN VERNA M. KEITH

# A THESIS

Submitted to the graduate faculty of The University of Alabama at Birmingham, in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Arts

## BIRMINGHAM, ALABAMA

# ""WIMPY WHITE BOY SYNDROME': DOES IT EXIST IN THE NICU?" BRITTANY NICOLE STEWART

# SOCIOLOGY

### ABSTRACT

"Wimpy White Boy Syndrome" (WWBS) is a social phenomenon and belief that exists in the neonatal intensive care unit (NICU), where white boys fare the worst and Black girls fare the best. However, this belief is based on little to no empirical evidence and contradicts the majority of the research that documents Black Americans tend to have worse health outcomes than white Americans. Utilizing electronic medical record data from a Southern, regional, and level IV neonatal intensive care unit, this research project explored racial differences in length of hospital stay, mortality, and resource allocation among low and very low birthweight infants. Using Cox Proportional Hazard Modeling, I find that Black babies have a lower hazard of discharge to home (HR: 0.842; p<0.001) and have a slightly higher hazard of mortality (HR:1.561; p=0.061) compared to white

babies. However, once differences in health are accounted for by controlling for gestational age, respiratory distress, sepsis, and maternal health conditions, Black babies are no longer less likely to discharge (HR: 1.064; p=0.132). Additionally, I found that racial differences in time until discharge vary by gender, such that racial differences were more pronounced for boys (HR: 1.155; p<0.05 for Black babies and HR: 1.246; p<0.01 for other babies). Lastly, I found similar racial differences regarding hospital charges. Black babies have higher hospital charges but controlling for health accounts for these differences. If the concept of "Wimpy White Boy Syndrome" is grounded in racial differences in health, I would find that white male babies would be less likely to be discharged to home compared to other racial groups and this potential difference should be accounted for by health. However, this research finds that it is only after accounting for health that Black male babies are more likely to be discharged to home compared to

white male babies. This finding is discussed in light of the concept of self-fulfilling prophecy, where the providers take actions because of their beliefs about wimpy white boys leading them to be less likely to be discharged, and then the results of those actions confirm their beliefs (Merton 1948).

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACTii
LIST OF TABLES
LIST OF FIGURES
INTRODUCTION
LITERATURE REVIEW
THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK
"Strong Black Women", Intersectionality, and Fundamental Cause7
Patient-Nurse Interaction, Implicit Bias, and Resource Allocation8
METHODS
Data11
Measures
STATISTICAL ANALYSES
RESULTS
DISCUSSION
LIMITATIONS
CONCLUSION
LIST OF REFERENCES

# LIST OF TABLES

Tables	Page
1 Descriptive Statistics	17
2 Cox Proportional Hazard predicting discharge for LBW and VLBW babies	19
3 Cox Proportional Hazard predicting mortality for LBW and VLBW babies	20
4 OLS Regression predicting daily hospital charges for LBW and VLBW babies	22

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure	Page
1 Conceptual Model	2

#### INTRODUCTION

Past research has consistently shown that Black Americans have higher infant mortality, lower birth weight, earlier gestational age, and worse health outcomes compared to whites (Chen et al. 2013; Matoba and Collins 2017; Paneth 1995). Despite this documented disparity, an unexplored social phenomenon exists in neonatal intensive care units (NICU) across the country deemed "Wimpy White Boy Syndrome" (Oelberg 2014). "Wimpy White Boy Syndrome" (WWBS) is the theory that white boys fare worse in the NICU than other babies. Included in this theory is a hierarchy of strength – Black female babies are the strongest, then white female babies, then Black male babies, and then the white male babies are the wimpiest. "Wimpy White Boy Syndrome" needs to be researched to determine if its existence is paradoxical to most other research examining racial disparities in health or if it is a non-existent but deeply held belief.

These beliefs, unfounded or not, could result in greater racial disparities if healthcare workers respond to this belief by diverting resources to white babies and away from Black babies. Since research shows that Black infants are far more likely to experience morbidities and higher mortality compared to white infants, it is likely that this trend would be prevalent within the NICU itself (Loggins & Andrade, 2014; Rossen & Schoendorf, 2014; Greenwood et al 2020; Karkoutli et al 2022). Yet, there is limited research within the NICU regarding health disparities that this theory continues to pervade NICU practice. I evaluated this claim by examining health outcomes measured as discharge and mortality among low birthweight (LBW) and very low birth weight (VLBW) infants in a racially diverse, regional neonatal intensive care unit in the Southeast. I examined whether there are race and gender disparities in health controlling for SES measured as insurance status. Additionally, I inspected the differences in resource allocation by race and gender using hospital charges in this data.

My research questions are: (1) Are there racial differences in discharge, mortality, and resource allocation in low birth weight (LBW) and very low birth weight (VLBW) in the NICU? (2) Does health, as measured by gestational age, respiratory distress, sepsis, and maternal conditions, account for racial differences in discharge or mortality? (2) Do racial differences in discharge, mortality, and resource allocation vary by gender?



Figure 1 - Conceptual Model

#### LITERATURE REVIEW OF NEONATAL HEALTH DISPARITIES

"Wimpy White Boy Syndrome" is an anecdotal, commonly held belief in NICU. As many concepts in the medical field, it is a social construct created by nurses, doctors, and other staff working in neonatal intensive care units based on either observation, biases, or some other factor. The belief in WWBS is also found in some non-scientific articles, parent blogs, editorials, Reddit, and magazines (Anon 2022; Abramson 2016; Families.com n.d.; Cantrell 2019; Coleman 2017). While minimal, some research has shown a possible health disadvantage for premature white males (Alexander et al. 1995; Loftin et al. 2012; Morse et al. 2006; Stevenson et al. 2000). The most-cited article by Morse showed survival differences at lower gestational ages, showing Black female babies have a higher survival rate than white males if they have extremely low gestational ages (Morse et al. 2006). This research suggests that racial disparities in mortality and morbidity tend to decrease at earlier gestational age or birthweight. In particular, some research indicates better respiratory outcomes among Black infants. However, even among some of this research, the health advantage for Black babies does not remain longterm or the advantage dissipates with the introduction of advanced interventions (Alexander et al. 1995; Loftin et al. 2012; Stevenson et al. 2000; Frisbie et al. 2004; Howell et al. 2010). The theory may have originated from this research. However, in opposition to the idea of the "Wimpy White Boy Syndrome", there are well-documented, consistent evidence that Black Americans have worse health outcomes than their white peers. Explanations for these health disparities focus on structural aspects such as

systemic racism including segregation, access to care, and culturally incompetent care (Horbar et al. 2019; Ravi, Iacob, and Profit 2021; Profit et al. 2017; Edwards et al. 2021).

Past research has documented mortality disparities among Black and white people that are persistent across the life course, including infancy (Loggins & Andrade 2013; Alexander et al. 2008; Rossen & Schoendorf 2014). The general mortality rate for Black infants is two times that of white infants (Loggins & Andrade 2013). Additionally, this disparity may be increasing. Another study conducted seven years later found that Black newborn babies die at three times the rate of white babies (Greenwood et al 2020). Among, pre-term infants, Black babies disproportionately represent infant deaths. Approximately 70% of the preterm infant deaths are Black babies, despite representing only 20-28% of pre-term infants (Rossen & Schoendorf 2014). Many factors contribute to mortality rates, including but not limited to the mother's health, access to healthcare, and quality of care received.

Racial disparities in health are likely due to many factors including access, segregation, and ethnic variation in the quality of care. Racial and ethnic segregation has been found among NICUs in the United States, such that Black babies tend to receive care from NICUs with lower quality scores and white babies tend to receive care from NICUs with higher quality score. This segregation across NICU units has been found to increase racial disparities in health (Horbar et al. 2019). Specifically in a study conducted in New York City, white babies were born in hospitals with the lowest mortality rates, whereas Black babies were born in hospitals with the highest mortality rates (Howell et al. 2008). Thus, white infants had access to better hospitals for their care. The hospitals that the Black infants had access to had lower quality of care. It was estimated that

mortality rates for Black infants would be reduced by 6.7 per 1000 for very low birth weight births, if the Black women gave birth in the same hospitals where the white women were giving birth (Howell et al. 2008). One study called the care for preterm infants "segregated and unequal" reporting that Black and Hispanic infants are more likely to receive care in lower-quality NICUs (Ravi, Iacob, & Profit 2021). Equal access to the same quality care that white infants receive would significantly decrease the disparity between Black and white mothers and infants.

In addition to the segregation and access to care that Black infants experience, there is an "ethnic variation in the quality of care" that babies receive within NICUs (Profit et al. 2017). The lack of quality care for Black infants is not only about the location but some studies suggest that there is unequal care among white and Black babies who are being treated in the same neonatal intensive care units (Profit et al 2017; Horbar et al. 2019). For babies who are low birth weight and very low birth weight, minority babies had lower markers on scores of quality care than white babies within the same NICU (Edwards et al. 2021). Additionally, a population study that was conducted in California showed that the quality of care received for Black babies with very low birth weights was substantially different than the quality of care received by white babies with very low birth weight (Ravi, Iacob, & Profit 2021). This literature shows that health inequality exists for the preterm infants, whether in segregated locales or in the same NICUs.

Regarding the health of preterm infants, studies have shown that Black infants had 2-to-4 times higher morbidity when compared to white infants (Janevic et al. 2018). An example of this is that for babies with bronchopulmonary dysplasia (BPD), the babies

whose parents identified as Black received higher tracheostomies than white babies. Tracheostomies are a surgical opening that is created in the trachea to assist in breathing; only the most severe cases of BPD need tracheostomies (Karkoutli, et al. 2022). Thus, the Black babies were sicker and needed the drastic intervention. The disparity among morbidities plays a factor, even with new technologies in health care. An example is that before artificial surfactant – an intervention that helps with breathing – was used to treat preterm babies with respiratory distress syndrome (RDS), Black infants had a small survival advantage over the white infants. This small survival advantage is possibly where the "Wimpy White Boy Syndrome" originated, reporting that white males did not breathe as well as Black females and males with RDS. Yet, after the introduction of the artificial surfactant, the advantage quickly became a disadvantage for Black preterm infants (Frisbie et al. 2004 & Howell et al. 2010). It is likely because people with the most advantages will have access to the new technologies and opportunities in the healthcare system (Phelan & Link 1995; Phelan & Link 2015). The limited research that does exist on this subject shows stark disparities in the morbidities and mortality of Black and white preterm infants, which could be because of quality of care, segregation, access, or unconscious bias of the providers.

Despite these well-documented findings, the belief in the "Wimpy White Boy Syndrome" persists. This belief likely has its origins in minimal empirical findings that demonstrate that racial disparities in health outcomes diminish among pre-term and low birthweight infants. Regardless of the empirical racial differences in health among the NICU babies, racialized medical thought and sociological concepts of intersectionality and fundamental cause may shed light on why the *belief* exists.

#### THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK

"Strong Black Women", Intersectionality, and Fundamental Cause

Intersectionality is the idea that different pieces of people's lives – such as race and gender – can expose people to discrimination and oppression (Collins 2016). Both the gender and the race of the infant are factors that influence the care that they receive in the NICUs. The intersection of race and gender is present in this study because the current norm within the neonatal intensive care units is the belief that racial differences in health are conditioned by gender, such that white boys will be the wimpiest and the Black girls will be the strongest. It is possible that the research will show disparities in both race and gender (Crenshaw 1991). Thus, exploring the intersection of both is incredibly important in furthering the research. If the belief that girls are stronger specifically, Black girls, then they could receive fewer resources and patient care than boys or specifically white boys.

The belief that white boys in the neonatal intensive care unit are wimpy, and the hierarchy of strength created by this belief places Black females at the top. Thus, there is a belief that the Black female infants must be the strongest and will have the best health outcomes. A part of this racially held belief is the concept called the "Strong Black Woman" (Collins 1991; Beauboeuf-Lafontant 2007). The "Strong Black Woman" is a sociological construct placed on Black females that they are and/or must be strong. The history of this belief is married to the thought that Black females have higher pain

tolerances since they are "less civilized", even to the extent that Black female slaves underwent surgical procedures without anesthesia at the hand of a prominent Alabama gynecologist in the 1800s (Rich 2016; Ojanuga 1993). This has seemingly translated to modern medicine since doctors tend to underestimate the pain of Black patients (Staton et al. 2007). Specifically in maternal health, Black women receive less pain medicine in childbirth and post-partum care (Rich 2016; Badreldin, Grobman, & Yee 2019). Ultimately Black women experience "obstetric racism" because of a perception about their "obstetric hardiness" (Davis 2019). The ideas that have been pervasive throughout American history could still be present in the neonatal intensive care units. Through the eyes of the nurses and other medical staff, there could be a perception of the Black girl babies being strong with high pain tolerances. Thus, this intrinsic belief of the providers could cause the Black girls in the neonatal ICU to receive less attention and less care than the white boys.

#### Patient-Nurse Interaction, Implicit Bias, and Resource Allocation

Patient-nurse interaction will be explored as a possible explanation for the health disparities that may be discovered in the research. In the regular patient-nurse interaction, reciprocity and self-disclosure are a part of the patient and nurse interaction (Timmerman 1991). However, with a neonatal infant, there is not true reciprocity nor self-disclosure from the infant in the relationship. Yet, many of the nurses form strong bonds with the neonatal infants likely due to the long-term stays and high involvement with the infants' care. The relationship between a neonatal infant and a neonatal nurse is unique. With neonatal infants, the parents are involved in the relationship with the nurse as well. As the

nurse becomes more attached to the infant, the nurse can either become more attached to the family or more distant from the family, based on the nurses' perception of the family's care of the infant. The relationship of the nurse and immediate family members could impact the care that a nurse provides to the infant. In addition, if a nurse believes certain theories, such as "Wimpy White Boy Syndrome", the nurse may provide more intensive and focused care to the white male infant and spend less time caring for the Black and/or female infants. Additionally, the focus and resources will be on the wimpy white boy, potentially causing a disparity in health care for the other infants. This special attention or diversion of resources can come from an implicit social bias or cognition that the provider has within themselves without even knowing (Greenwood and Banaji 1995). Unfortunately, some research has shown this implicit bias among the health care providers (Burgess et. al 2007, Stone & Moskowitz 2011, Shavers & Moskowitz 2012). Despite the mythos of this concept, if nurses have been taught that "wimpy white boys" are something that they need to give special attention to, then they may do that, based on both their implicit bias and their understanding of their practice responsibilities.

Other providers, such as physicians, can also be subject to the implicit bias and perpetuate the theory of "Wimpy White Boy Syndrome". Additionally, physicians are commonly the gatekeepers of the resources within the NICU and make the decisions about how those resources are allocated (Kluge 2007, Iserson 2020). In this case, if the provider's perception was that the white male baby was the most in need, then the resources could be distributed to the white male baby over another baby of another race. Rarely, resources can be re-allocated to the patient who may be more likely to benefit, such as having a greater chance of surviving (Iserson 2020). In those cases, the resources

could be re-allocated to the baby with the perception of "strongest", and in the case of this theory, it would be the female Black babies. However, in the case of resource scarcity, providers make the decision to conserve the resources and give priority to the "at-risk groups" as determined by their professional judgment (Iserson 2020). I examined discharge, mortality, and hospital charges to determine if disparities exist among babies in the NICU. Additionally, I explored if racial differences varied by gender.

#### METHODS

#### Data

Utilizing i2b2 electronic health record data from a Southern, regional, level IV NICU, I examine length of stay, mortality, and hospital charges by race and gender. Using data from a single, regional hospital system decreases the likelihood that the racial differences in outcome are due to segregation and access. The sample was taken from July 1, 2010 to September 15, 2022 of babies who are below 2,500 grams. The sample is 3,407 low birth weight (LBW) and very low birth weight (VLBW) Black and white infants in this NICU. Choosing to only sample LBW and VLBW babies was a control by design. All babies who are LBW or VLBW will automatically be in the NICU for some length of stay, based on their birth weight. LBW and especially VLBW babies are the "sickest" babies in the NICU. This increases the likelihood that I am observing a population-based sample of all LBW and VLBW births in the area. In this data, there were 6,706 possible observations. Of these, only 3,422 or 51% had gestational age recorded. Gestational age was not consistently recorded in the electronic health record until late 2016. Then, there was 1 missing on race, 1 missing on gender, 5 on death, and 13 missing on insurance status. Using listwise deletion to handle missingness leaves a sample size of 3,402 for the discharge and mortality analyses. An additional 124 are missing on hospital charges, leaving a sample size of 3,283 for that analysis.

#### Measures

#### **Dependent Variables**

*Length of stay.* This dependent variable is determined using the admit and discharge dates. Length of stay is measured in days. Majority of the babies were born inside the hospital and remained in the hospital until discharge. However, some of those babies are admitted to Children's Hospital and re-admitted to the regional NICU. These babies are in the hospital from their birth through their stay at Children's Hospital and through to their final discharge date from the regional NICU. Due to the collaboration with the regional NICU and the local Children's Hospital, the babies who transfer to Children's to receive a surgical intervention are usually transferred back to the regional NICU for the completion of their care. In the instance that they did not return to the NICU after discharging to Children's, they are right censored at the date of discharge to Children's (n=345). Additionally, some babies transfer in from outside hospitals, these cases came from a transfer hospital (n=293) with their first admittance date to be considered the first date they are admitted to this NICU. They will be included in the study, but they are left-censored, since their original admission date is unknown. Individuals are considered discharged once they are discharged home (=1). Infants who died (n=113), discharged to hospice (n=5), or transferred to another hospital (n=36) are considered to have not experienced this event (=0). The variable length of stay determines a baby's time until discharge for the analysis.

*Mortality*. Infants that die in the NICU are recorded on the electronic health record along with the date of their death. Among individuals who were discharged to hospice care (n=5), their date of death is recorded as their discharge date.

*Hospital charges*. In the electronic health records, hospital charge was the only measure of resources that could be evaluated. The hospital charge variable was made into a daily charge by dividing the total charge by length of stay. Then, the hospital charge variable was logged for analysis to handle the non-normal distribution.

### Independent Variables

*Race*. The first independent variable for this sample is determined by the mother identifying the race of the baby on the birth certificate. Once the mother does this, it is entered into the electronic medical record. In this study, race is measured as white, Black, and other.

*Gender*. This independent variable is determined at birth based on the anatomical features of the baby. The variables were already identified within the data. Gender was re-coded into a dummy variable. Also, a four-category racial gender variable was created to look at the four groups – white males, white females, Black males, and Black females. The decision to utilize "gender" instead of "sex" is because I am interested in the social aspect of how babies are treated by providers. I also care about the biological vulnerability, social perceptions, and meaning regarding their gender.

#### **Covariates**

*Gestational age*. The gestational age variable was changed from gestational days at birth to gestational weeks at birth, as that is how it is measured and discussed in the neonatal intensive care units. It is being utilized as a variable to determine the health of the babies in the sample.

*Respiratory distress.* This variable is determined using the ICD-10 code P22: "Respiratory distress syndrome of a newborn". They are coded as having this condition if the diagnosis is reported on the medical record for the baby.

*Sepsis.* This variable is determined using the ICD-10 code P36: "Bacterial sepsis of a newborn". They are coded as having this condition if the diagnosis is reported on the medical record for the baby.

*Maternal conditions*. This variable is determined using the ICD-10 code P00: "Newborn affected by maternal conditions". They are coded as having this condition if the diagnosis is reported on the medical record for the baby.

*Insurance status*. Insurance status was originally labeled as financial class and was measured as Blue Cross, Champus/Tricare, Commerical, Indingent/Charity Care, Medicaid Pending Mdast, Medicaid, Medicaid Out of State, Medicaid Patient 1<sup>st</sup>, Medicare HMO/PPO/FFS, True Self Pay, United Health Care, Vet Admin, Viva Health, and Viva UAB. This was then re-coded into any private insurance (=1) and no private insurance including those that are uninsured (=0).

#### STATISTICAL ANALYSES

For the analysis process, descriptive statistics were assessed by looking at the means and frequencies. I used Cox Proportional Hazard Modeling, a type of survival analysis to examine the hazard to discharge to home or death. Cox Proportional Hazard Modeling is used when explaining the risk of event occurrence. It takes the ratio of hazards for any two individuals to determine whether individuals that differ by the independent variable have a different hazard than the general population. This model is an assumption that "every individual's hazard is a constant multiple of every other individual's hazard" (Allison 2010). Given the likelihood that the event occurred in the specific time period, it determines what the hazard is for individuals who are Black compared to white. The individual's hazard is a multiple of every other hazard. To analyze resource allocation using the hospital charge variable, Ordinary Least Squares regression model was used for this analysis. To examine where there are racial differences in the outcome, Model 1 includes race, gender, and insurance. Model 2 adds gestational age, sepsis, respiratory distress, and maternal health conditions and examines where racial differences in the outcome persist after accounting for infant health. However, sepsis is not included in the mortality model as it is too predictive of mortality. Lastly, Model 2 includes the interaction between race and gender and examines whether racial differences vary by gender.

### RESULTS

#### Table 1

Table 1 (n=3,283) shows that the average length of stay for the sample was 50.61 days. In the sample, 41% of the babies are white, 47% of the babies are Black, and only 12% are other races. Overall, there is a slightly higher percentage of Black infants in the NICU, and it is likely because the sample consists of those low birth weight and very low birth weight infants. Approximately 51% of the sample is male with 49% being female. Seventy-nine percent have private insurance only, and 21% have other insurance or no insurance. The average gestational age is 31 weeks, and the average hospital charge is \$6,973. 106 babies died representing less than 1% of the sample.

	Mean or %
Length of Stay	50.61
0 ,	(0.88)
Race	
White	40.9
	(0.008)
Black	46.8
	(0.008)
Other	12.2
	(0.005)
Gender	
Male	50.9
	(0.008)
Female	49.1
	(0.008)
Insurance	
Private	78.7
	(0.007)
Public	21.3
	(0.007)
Gestational Age	31.003
	(0.059)
Respiratory Distress	68.5
	(0.008)
Sepsis	6.3
	(0.004)
Maternal Conditions	2.5
	(0.003)
Hospital Charges	6973.829
	(159.04)
Death	0.05
	(0.001)

Table 2

Table 2 (n=3,407) presents the hazard ratio from Cox Proportional Hazard modeling for length of stay. Model 1 demonstrates that Black babies do have lower hazard for discharge, net of gender and insurance. Compared to white babies, Black babies had 0.842 the hazard of discharge to home (p<0.001). Thus, Black babies are more likely to have longer stays in the NICU. Model 2 adds gestational age and health conditions and finds that these factors account for racial differences in time until discharge. Concerning gestational age, I find for every one week increase in gestational age, the hazard of discharge increases by 1.31 (p<0.001). Additionally, having a diagnosis of respiratory distress or sepsis is associated with a lower hazard of discharge to home (HR: 0.862, p<0.01 for respiratory distress; HR: 0.672, p<0.001 for sepsis). Model 3 adds the interaction between race and gender. The interaction is significant (p<0.05), which demonstrates that racial differences in the hazard of discharge to home varies by gender. The racial differences are significant for boys, but they are not significant for girls. Among boys, I find that the Black and other babies are more likely to be discharged to home compared to white boys (HR for Black babies: 1.155 and HR for other: 1.247). However, I find that Black and other race girls have similar hazards of discharge to home compared to white girls (HR: 981; p=0.728 for Black babies and HR: .932; p=0.25 for other babies). The analyses among girls were not shown here. Lastly, among all white babies, I find girls are more likely to be discharged to home than white boys (HR: 1.123, p<0.05).

	Model 1		M	odel 2	Model 3		
	haz		haz		haz.		
	ratio	р	ratio	р	ratio	р	
Race							
(white)							
black	0.842	0.000***	1.064	0.132	1.155	.012*	
other	1.019	0.754	1.082	0.191	1.247	.008**	
<b>Gender</b> (male)							
female	1.005	0.891	1.004	0.903	1.123	.044*	
Insurance Gestational	0.931	0.136	0.889	0.014	0.89	0.015*	
Age Respiratory			1.308	0.000***	1.31	0.000***	
Distress			0.862	0.001***	0.86	0.000***	
Sepsis			0.672	0.000***	0.671	0.000***	
Maternal Conditions			0 022	0 5/0	0 021	0 547	
conditions			0.932	0.349	0.931	0.547	
Race#Gender							
black#female					0.848	.039*	
other#female					0.748	.016*	
Chi2	0.0	0.0003***		0.000***		0.000***	
Significance for the hazard ratio: *p<.05, **p<.01, ***p<.001							

Table 2. Cox Proportional Hazard predicting discharge for LBW and VLBW babies (n=3,402)

#### Table 3

Table 3 (n=3,407) displays the hazard ratio from the Cox Proportional Hazard Modeling for mortality. Model 1 looks at the hazard of morality for Black and other babies compared to white babies, net of insurance and gender. Compared to white babies, Black babies had 1.576 the hazard of mortality, but it was not significant (p=0.061). Model 2 includes the health measures of gestational age, respiratory distress, and maternal conditions as covariates. Higher gestational age is significantly associated with mortality (HR: 0.784, p<0.001). There are no significant racial differences in mortality in this model. Model 3 adds the interaction between race and gender. Racial differences do not vary by gender, as the interactions were not significant.

	Model 1		M	odel 2	Model 3		
	hazard		hazard		hazard		
	ratio	р	ratio	р	ratio	р	
Race							
(white)							
black	1.564	0.065	1.13	0.62	1.36	0.733	
other	1.654	0.139	1.344	0.389	1.571	0.114	
Gender							
(male)							
female	0.902	0.606	0.827	0.345	1.073	0.617	
Insurance	1.502	0.1	1.468	0.12	1.455	0.131	
Gestational			0 704	0 000***	0 705	0 000***	
Age Respiratory			0.784	0.000	0.785	0.000***	
Distress			0.757	0.260	0.755	0.035*	
Maternal			01707	01200	01700	01000	
Conditions			0.388	0.347	0.388	0.498	
Race#Gender							
black#female					0.677	0.392	
other#female					0.715	0.624	
Chi2	0.3	0.365		0.000***		0.000***	
Significance for the hazard ratio: *p<.05, **p<.01, ***p<.001							

Table 3. Cox Proportional Hazard predicting mortality for LBW and VLBW babies (n=3,402)

Table 4

Table 4 (n=3,283) presents Ordinary Least Squares Regression that predicts the hospital charges for the babies in the sample. Model 1 looks at the racial differences in daily hospital charge, net of insurance and gender. Model 1 finds that Black babies have 2.5% (p<0.05) higher hospital charges than white babies, net of gender and insurance. Additionally, those with private insurance have 3.2% higher hospital charges compared to those without private insurance (p<0.05). There are no significant gender differences. Model 2 includes gestational age, respiratory distress, sepsis, and maternal conditions as covariates to determine if racial differences are accounted for by health. Similar to the discharge results, once controlling for health, Black babies no longer have significant differences in their hospital charges compared to white babies. Higher gestational age and having a diagnosis of maternal health conditions are associated with lower hospital charges (b=-0.034, p<0.001 for gestational age; b=-0.136, p<0.001 for maternal health conditions). However, having the diagnosis of sepsis is associated with a 7.5% increase in hospital charges (p<0.001). In Model 3, the interaction is not significant, demonstrating that racial differences do not vary by gender.

	Model 1		<u>м</u>	odel 2	Model 3	
	b	р	b	р	b	р
Intercept <b>Race</b> (white)	8.77	0.000*	9.873	0.000***	9.873	0.000***
black	0.025	0.023*	0.007	0.483	0.004	0.748
other	0.0115	0.489	0.012	0.419	0.007	0.735
<b>Gender</b> (male)			_		_	
female	-0.011	0.253	0.016	0.078	0.014	0.297
Insurance	0.032	0.012*	0.022	0.054	0.022	0.055
Gestational Age Respiratory Distress			0.034 - 0.012	0.000***	0.034 - 0.012	0.000***
Sepsis			0.075	0.000***	0.075	0.000***
Maternal Conditions			- 0.136	0.000***	- 0.136	0.000***
<b>Race#Gender</b> black#female					_	
other#female					0.005 0.011	0.776 0.705
R2	0.0031**		0.172		0.172	
Model F	0.03	881*	0.000***		0.000***	
	Significa	nce for OLS:	*p<.05, **	p<.01, ***p<.0	001	

Table 4. OLS Regression predicting daily hospital charges for LBW and VLBW babies,(n=3,283)

#### DISCUSSION

Discharge was assessed to determine the health outcome of the babies. If babies are more likely to discharge, then it is likely that they are healthier. If they are less likely to discharge, then they are sicker. I expected to find that there was an intersection of racial and gender differences in discharge between Black and white babies, specifically with Black babies being less likely to discharge. I do find that Black babies are less likely to be discharged from the NICU compared to white babies. However, gestational age, respiratory distress, sepsis, and maternal conditions accounted for racial differences in the hazard for discharge among babies in the NICU. This suggests that while Black babies are less likely to discharge than white babies, it is because they have younger gestational ages and possibly worse health. However, this varied by gender. Among boys, accounting for health resulted in Black male babies having a higher hazard of discharge to home compared to white male babies. Among girls, there were no racial differences in time until discharge. Two explanations could exist for this finding: 1. Black male babies do have worse health than white babies, but within poorer health status, Black male babies are heartier than white male babies or 2. Black boys could be determined as healthier by providers due to the underlying belief of the "Wimpy White Boy Syndrome" and thus, they are discharged quicker. The first explanation is supported by other research that discovered survival differences at lower gestational ages. Morse and colleagues (2006) found that Black female babies have a higher survival rate than white males if they have

extremely low gestational ages. However, the findings in my research suggests the second explanation due to the suggestive findings regarding mortality and the hazard of discharge changing when accounting for health. However, more extensive research needs to be conducted to determine the actual existence and impact of this ongoing belief in the NICU.

The finding for racial differences in discharge could be due to factors related to the family and not the provider, as there could be some cultural differences in the trust of providers (Benkert et al. 2006). For example, a parent of a Black infant could not trust the provider, based on perceived discriminatory events or their past experience in health care settings. Thus, those families could push for quicker discharges. However, this is likely not the case, as it is unlikely that these cultural differences would vary by the gender of the child. However, the belief in WWBS is gender-specific much like the race and discharge finding presented here. Additionally, the likelihood that it is due to WWBS and not actual differences in health is bolstered by the findings for mortality because if WWBS is true, I would have found that white boys have higher mortality. However, I found that there are suggestive differences by race such that Black babies have a higher mortality hazard than white babies even though these differences fail to reach significance and are fully accounted for by gestational age and health (HR: 1.576; p=0.061 for Black babies from Table 3, Model 1). The rarity of the outcome (death) likely impacted the likelihood of finding significance. Only 1% of the sample died, making it a relatively rare event. 32 white babies, 61 Black babies, and 13 other babies are recorded as deceased or discharged to hospice.

Resource allocation was assessed through looking at daily hospital charges.

Hospital charges help determine the number of resources that may be allocated to specific babies, and this may differ based on race and/or gender. Similar to my discharge findings, I did find a significant relationship between hospital charges and Black babies. Black babies had 2.5% higher hospital charges than white babies. However, racial differences are not significant after accounting for health (from Model 1 and 2 in Table 4). Hospital charges represent the amount each child was charged for the interventions and services used on the child. The charges are not necessarily reflective of care, but it is used here to determine resources possibly utilized for each patient. However, the charges also could reflect the longer stays, as a baby will have higher charges for longer lengths of stay, as the babies are sicker and require more interventions. The hospital charges can reflect how the resources are allocated by the providers, who are the gatekeepers of those resources (Iserson 2020; Kluge 2007). However, while hospital charges are indicative of the dollar amount of medical intervention received, they do not shed light on the amount of care work done by nursing staff, including time spent comforting and consoling families and time spent tending to the child's needs (Timmerman 1991). Future research should either examine this using qualitative methods of ethnography or a resource diary. Additionally, resource allocation could be examined by determining which babies are discharged during high volume months in the NICU, which would be when resources are scarce.

#### LIMITATIONS

While this is the first study to empirically examine "Wimpy White Boy Syndrome" using a racially diverse sample of all low birthweight infants, some limitations do exist in this study. Unfortunately, EHR data does not consistently collect information on patient-level socioeconomic status. This research only used insurance status as a socioeconomic status measure. While insurance status is correlated with other markers of socioeconomic status, it is an imperfect measure of socioeconomic status. The research could be furthered by using the area deprivation index with the census track data to determine socioeconomic status as addresses are available on EHR. The dataset only applies to individuals who received care at this hospital. However, this hospital has a high proportion of Black residents around 30% unlike the 14% in the United States. This provides a large enough sample size to reflect an accurate estimate of Black/white disparities. Additionally, this is a regional, level IV NICU increasing the likelihood that our sample comes from a more geographically diverse area than the immediate city. It would be fruitful to see if these patterns are similar in other regions to determine if this belief is held across various sites nationally. Fifty-sex percent of Black Americans live in the Southeast and outside the Southeast, most Black Americans live in urban areas (Pew Research Center 2021). These demographic differences likely impact cultural variation in beliefs concerning child health, as well as variations in structural factors that lead to variation in racial differences in health (Baickar et al. 2005). Thus, it would be important

to determine if this theory is pervasive across the nation. If the belief is within NICUs across the nations and continues to be contradictory to the research, it would be imperative to address these biases.

#### CONCLUSION

The findings of this study are interesting and nuanced, as my results suggest that the belief in "Wimpy White Boy Syndrome" is real, but the reality of it is not. Black babies are less likely to get discharged because they have lower gestational ages. However, once health (gestational age) is accounted, Black babies are no longer less likely to be discharged. Yet, this racial difference is only found among boys, not girls, and within whites, girls are more likely to be discharged than boys. My findings suggest that the belief in "Wimpy White Boy Syndrome" is perhaps a self-fulfilling prophecy. The providers perceive that Black babies are healthier and thus, they are discharged quicker. Thus, my findings support the theory of discrimination as a fundamental cause of health disparities (Phelan and Link 2015). However, this discrimination is not necessarily explicit, as it likely displays an implicit social bias of the providers and their provider-patient interaction (Greenwood and Banaji 1995; Timmerman 1991). If white boys are wimpier, then they should have been less likely to be discharged and health should have accounted for those differences.

### REFERENCES

- Abramson, B. 2016. "The Doctors Told My Friend His Son Had 'Wimpy White Boy Syndrome." *Good Men Project*. Retrieved April 19, 2023 (<u>https://goodmenproject.com/featured-content/the-doctors-told-my-friend-his-son-had-wimpy-white-boy-syndrome-bbab/</u>).
- Alexander, G. R., Wingate, M. S., Bader, D., & Kogan, M. D. 2008. The increasing racial disparity in infant mortality rates: Composition and contributors to recent US trends. American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology, 198(1), 51.e1-51.e9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajog.2007.06.006

Allison, Paul. 2010. Survival Analysis Using Stata. www.pauldallison.com

- Anon. 2022. "Wimpy White Boy Syndrome Is an Unofficial but Legitimate Diagnosis in the Nicu. What Are the Unofficial but Real Diagnoses You See in Your Units/Practice?" *Reddit*. Retrieved April 19, 2023 (https://www.reddit.com/r/nursing/comments/sl2wev/wimpy\_white\_boy\_syndrom e\_is\_an\_unofficial\_but/).
- Baicker, K., Chandra, A., Skinner, J. 2005. Geographic Variation in Health Care and the Problem of Measuring Racial Disparities. *John Hopkins University Press*, 48(1):42-53.
- Badreldin, N., Grobman, W. A., & Yee, L. M. 2019. 352: Association between regional analgesia and postpartum opioid use following vaginal delivery. *American Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology*, 220(1), S244-S245.
- Beauboeuf-Lafontant T. (2007). "You have to show strength": An exploration of gender, race, and depression. *Gender & Society*, 21(1), 28–51. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0891243206294108</u>
- Benkert R., Peters R.M., Clark R., Keves-Foster K. 2006. Effects of perceived racism, cultural mistrust and trust in providers on satisfaction with care. J Natl Med Assoc. 98(9):1532-40.
- Burgess, D., van Ryn, M., Dovidio, J., & Saha, S. 2007. Reducing racial bias among health care providers: lessons from social-cognitive psychology. J Gen Intern Med. 22:882-87.

- Cantrell, M. 2019. "The Mighty NICU Worriers and the Wimpy White Boy Syndrome." *Wordpress*. Retrieved April 19, 2023. (https://myownmotherhood.wordpress.com/2019/07/14/the-mighty-nicu-worriersand-the-wimpy-white-boy-syndrome/).
- Chen, Han Yang, Suneet P. Chauhan, Nicole C. Rankins, Cande V. Ananth, Danish S. Siddiqui, and Anthony M. Vintzileos. 2013. "Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Infant Mortality in the United States: The Role of Gestational Age." *American Journal of Perinatology* 30(6):469–76. doi: 10.1055/s-0032-1326992.
- Coleman, T. 2017. "Wimpy White Boy Syndrome': How Racial Bias Creeps Into Neonatal Care." *Rewire News Group*. Retrieved April 19, 2023 (https://rewirenewsgroup.com/2017/10/18/wimpy-white-boy-syndrome-biasneonatal-care/).
- Collins, P. H. 1991. Black Feminist Thought: Knowledge, Consciousness, and the Politics of Empowerment. New York: Routledge.
- Collins, P. H. 2000. Gender, Black feminism, and Black political economy. *The Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, 568, 41–53.
- Collins, P. H. 2019. *Intersectionality as Critical Social Theory*. Duke University Press. https://doi.org/10.2307/j.ctv11hpkdj
- Crenshaw, K., 1989. Demarginalizing the intersection of race and sex: a Black feminist critique of anti-discrimination doctrine, feminist theory and anti-racist politics. *University of Chicago Legal Forum*, 1989(1), pp.139-167.
- Davis, D. 2019. Obstetric Racism: The Racial Politics of Pregnancy, Labor, and Birthing, Medical Anthropology, 38:7, 560-573, DOI: 10.1080/01459740.2018.1549389
- Edwards E.M., Greenberg L.T., Profit J., Draper D., Helkey D., Horbar J.D. 2021. Quality of care in US NICUs by race and ethnicity. Pediatricss.148(2):e2020037622.
- Families.com. n.d. "Weak White Males and the Difference Race Makes in Preemies." *NetworkMedia.Com, Inc.* Retrieved April 19, 2023 (https://www.families.com/weak-white-males-and-the-difference-race-makes-inpreemies).
- Frisbie W.P., Song S.E., Powers D.A., Street J.A. 2004. The increasing racial disparity in infant mortality: respiratory distress syndrome and other causes. Demography. 41(4):773–800.
- Greenwald, A., & Banaji, M. 1995. Implicit Social Cognition: Attitudes, Self-Esteem, and Stereotypes Implicit Social Cognition. *Psychological Review*. 102: 4-27.

- Greenwood, B. N., Hardeman, R. R., Huang, L., & Sojourner, A. 2020. *Physician-patient* racial concordance and disparities in birthing mortality for newborns. 117. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1913405117/-/DCSupplemental
- Horbar J.D., Edwards E.M., Greenberg L.T., et al. 2019. Racial segregation and inequality in the neonatal intensive care unit for very low-birth-weight and very preterm infants. JAMA Pediatr. 173(5):455–461.
- Howell E.A., Hebert P., Chatterjee S., Kleinman L.C., Chassin M.R. 2008. Black/white differences in very low birth weight neonatal mortality rates among New York City hospitals. Pediatrics. 121(3). Available at: www.pediatrics.org/cgi/content/full/121/3/e407.
- Howell E.A., Holzman I., Kleinman L.C., Wang J., Chassin M.R. 2010. Surfactant use for premature infants with respiratory distress syndrome in three New York City hospitals: discordance of practice from a community clinician consensus standard. J Perinatol. 30(9):590–595.
- Iserson K.V. 2020. Healthcare Ethics During a Pandemic. *West J Emerg Med.* 21(3):477-483. doi: 10.5811/westjem.2020.4.47549.
- Janevic, T., Zeitlin, J., Auger, N., Egorova, N. N., Hebert, P., Balbierz, A., & Howell, E. A. 2018. Association of race/ethnicity with very preterm neonatal morbidities. *JAMA pediatrics*, 172(11), 1061-1069.
- Karkoutli, A. A., KC, M., Jawla, M., Brumund, M. R., & Evans, A. K. 2022. Racial identification represents significant risk factor for healthcare disparity among patients with severe bronchopulmonary dysplasia treated with tracheostomy. *International Journal of Pediatric Otorhinolaryngology*, 160, 111226. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijporl.2022.111226</u>.
- Kluge E.H. 2007. Resource allocation in healthcare: implications of models of medicine as a profession. *MedGenMed*. 21;9(1):57.
- Loftin, R., Chen, A, Evans, A. and Defranco, E.. 2012. "Racial Differences in Gestational Age-Specific Neonatal Morbidity: Further Evidence for Different Gestational Lengths." Pp. 259.e1-259.e6 in American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology. Vol. 206. Mosby Inc.
- Loggins, S., & Andrade, F. C. D. 2014. Despite an overall decline in U.S. infant mortality rates, the black/white disparity persists: Recent trends and future projections. *Journal of Community Health*, 39(1), 118–123. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10900-013-9747-0</u>
- Matoba, N. and Collins, J.W. 2017. Racial Disparity in Infant Mortality. *Seminars in Perinatology* 41(6):354–59. doi: 10.1053/j.semperi.2017.07.003.

Merton, R. K. 1948. The self-fulfilling prophecy. Antioch Review, 8, 193-210.

- Morris B.H., Gard C.C., Kennedy K. 2005. Rehospitalization of extremely low birthweight (ELBW) infants: are there racial/ethnic disparities? J Perinatol. 25(10):656–663
- Morse S. B., Wu S.S., Ma, C., Ariet, M., Resnick, M., and Roth, J. 2006. "Racial and Gender Differences in the Viability of Extremely Low Birth Weight Infants: A Population-Based Study." *Pediatrics* 117(1). doi: 10.1542/peds.2005-1286.
- Ojanuga, D. 1993. The medical ethics of the "father of gynaecology", Dr J Marion Sims. In *Journal of Medical Ethics* (Vol. 19, Issue 1, pp. 28–31). <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/jme.19.1.28</u>

Oelberg, David. 2014. WWBS: Fact or Fiction. *The Journal of Perinatology-Neonatology*, 27(2), 8.

Paneth, Nigel S. 1995. The Problem of Low Birth Weight. *The Future of Children*, 5(1), 19-34.

Pew Research Center. 2021. Facts about the U.S. Black Population. Washington, D.C. https://www.pewresearch.org/social-trends/fact-sheet/facts-about-the-us-black-population/

- Profit, J., Gould, J. B., Bennett, M., Goldstein, B. A., Draper, D., Phibbs, C. S., & Lee, H. C. 2017. Racial/ethnic disparity in NICU quality of care delivery. *Pediatrics*, 140(3).
- Ravi, D., Iacob, A., & Profit, J. 2021. Unequal care: Racial/ethnic disparities in neonatal intensive care delivery. *Seminars in Perinatology*, 45(4). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.semperi.2021.151411

Rich, M. 2016. The Curse of Civilised Woman: Race, Gender and the Pain of Childbirth in Nineteenth-Century American Medicine. *Gender & History*, 28(1), 57-76.

- Rossen, L. M., & Schoendorf, K. C. 2014. Trends in racial and ethnic disparities in infant mortality rates in the United States, 1989–2006. *American journal of public health*, 104(8), 1549-1556.
- Sanjari M., Bahramnezhad F., Fomani F.K., Shoghi M., Cheraghi M.A. 2014. Ethical challenges of researchers in qualitative studies: the necessity to develop a specific guideline. J Med Ethics Hist Med. Aug 4;7:14. PMID: 25512833; PMCID: PMC4263394.

- Shavers, V.L. & Moskowitz, G. B. 2012. The state of research on racial/ethnic discrimination in the receipt of healthcare. *Am J Public Health*. 103: 953-66.
- Staton, L. J., Panda, M., Chen, I., Genao, I., Kurz, J., Pasanen, M., Mechaber, A. J., Menon, M., O'rorke, J., Wood, J., Rosenberg, E., Faeslis, C., Carey, T., Calleson, D., Cykert, S., & Staton, J. 2007. When Race Matters: Disagreement in Pain Perception between Patients and their Physicians in Primary are.
- Stevenson, D. K., J. E. Tyson, S. B. Korones, C. R. Bauer, B. J. Stoll, L. A. Papile, J. Verter, A. A. Fanaroff, W. Oh, R. A. Ehrenkranz, S. Shankaran, E. F. Donovan, L. L. Wright, and J. A. Lemons. 2000. "Sex Differences in Outcomes of Very Low Birthweight Infants: The Newborn Male Disadvantage." *Archives of Disease in Childhood: Fetal and Neonatal Edition* 83(3). doi: 10.1136/fn.83.3.f182.
- Stone, J., & Moskowitz, G. B. 2011. Non-consious bias in medical decision making: what can be done to reduce it? *Med Educ.* 45:768-76.
- Timmerman, G. M. 1991. A concept analysis of intimacy. *Issues in mental health nursing*, *12*(1), 19-30.
- Zupancic, J.A. 1992. Dangerous economics: resource allocation in the NICU. *CMAJ*. Mar 15;146(6):1073-6.